East Central University Foundation, Inc.

Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024 (With Independent Auditors' Report Thereon)



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Table of Contents

	<u>Page</u>
Independent Auditors' Report	1
Financial Statements:	
Statements of Financial Position	4
Statements of Activities	5
Statements of Functional Expenses	7
Statements of Cash Flows	8
Notes to Financial Statements	9
Independent Auditors' Report on	
Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on	
an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in	
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards	28

405-878-7300

Finley-Cook.com

1421 East 45th Street Shawnee, OK 74804

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Trustees
East Central University Foundation, Inc.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of East Central University Foundation, Inc. (a nonprofit organization) (the "Foundation"), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Foundation as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Foundation and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Foundation's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

(Continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT, CONTINUED

<u>Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements</u>

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and *Government Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and *Government Auditing Standards*, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
 or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
 examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
 raise substantial doubt about the Foundation's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
 period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we identified during the audit.

(Continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT, CONTINUED

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated September 23, 2025, on our consideration of the Foundation's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Foundation's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Finley + Cook, PLIC

Shawnee, Oklahoma September 23, 2025

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30,	2025	2024
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 10,591,252	4,538,489
Promises to give	4,705,814	4,626,879
Total current assets	15,297,066	9,165,368
Noncurrent assets:		
Investments, at fair value	52,510,915	46,881,741
Promises to give, net of discount	8,868,355	5,595,924
Real estate held as investment	12,500	12,500
Artwork	-	336,786
Other assets	26,503	37,236
Total noncurrent assets	61,418,273	52,864,187
Total assets	\$ 76,715,339	62,029,555
Liabilities and Net Assets		
Liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 2,539	101,680
Deferred revenue	150,000	-
Total liabilities	152,539	101,680
Net assets:		
Without donor restrictions	2,268,652	1,640,009
With donor restrictions	74,294,148	60,287,866
Total net assets	76,562,800	61,927,875
Total liabilities and net assets	\$ 76,715,339	62,029,555

See Independent Auditors' Report. See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

Vagr Ended June 20, 2025			
Year Ended June 30, 2025			
	Without Donor	With Donor	
	Restrictions	Restrictions	Total
Revenues, gains, and other support:	. <u></u>		
Contributions:			
Contributions of cash and			
other financial assets	\$ 3,100	13,304,881	13,307,981
Total contributions	3,100	13,304,881	13,307,981
Investment return:			
Interest and dividends	270,493	1,496,885	1,767,378
Investment gains, net	1,272,070	2,884,612	4,156,682
Total investment return	1,542,563	4,381,497	5,924,060
Other support	-	3,750	3,750
		3,750	3,750
Net assets released from restrictions	3,695,010	(3,695,010)	-
Total revenues, gains, and other support	5,240,673	13,995,118	19,235,791
, ,			
Expenses and losses:			
Program activities for the University	3,698,699	-	3,698,699
Management and operating	456,787	-	456,787
Fundraising	206,144	<u> </u>	206,144
Total expenses	4,361,630		4,361,630
Loss on artwork	239,236	<u> </u>	239,236
Total expenses and losses	4,600,866	<u> </u>	4,600,866
Transfer (to) from other net assets	(11,164)	11,164	
Change in net assets	628,643	14,006,282	14,634,925
-	, -	, ,	
Net assets at beginning of year	1,640,009	60,287,866	61,927,875
	<u> </u>		· · · · · ·
Net assets at end of year	\$ 2,268,652	74,294,148	76,562,800
rice assets at cita or year	,===,===	,,	-,,-30

See Independent Auditors' Report. See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES, CONTINUED

Year Ended June 30, 2024			
Revenues, gains, and other support:	Without Donor <u>Restrictions</u>	With Donor Restrictions	<u>Total</u>
Contributions:			
Contributions of cash and	¢ 0.505	12 000 402	12 007 000
other financial assets	\$ 8,505	12,989,483	12,997,988
Total contributions	8,505	12,989,483	12,997,988
Investment return:			
Interest and dividends	333,706	1,058,046	1,391,752
Investment gains, net	1,353,264	2,556,993	3,910,257
Total investment return	1,686,970	3,615,039	5,302,009
Other support	_	3,750	3,750
other support	-	3,750	3,750
Net assets released from restrictions	3,626,902	(3,626,902)	-
Total revenues, gains, and other support	5,322,377	12,981,370	18,303,747
Expenses:			
Program activities for the University	3,716,852	-	3,716,852
Management and operating	370,618	-	370,618
Fundraising	93,702	<u> </u>	93,702
Total expenses	4,181,172	<u>-</u> _	4,181,172
Transfer (to) from other net assets	(127,589)	127,589	<u>-</u>
Change in net assets	1,013,616	13,108,959	14,122,575
Net assets at beginning of year	626,393	47,178,907	47,805,300
Net assets at end of year	\$ 1,640,009	60,287,866	61,927,875

See Independent Auditors' Report.
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

Years Ended June 30,	2025	2024
_		
Expenses:		
Program activities for the University:		
Scholarship awards	\$ 1,190,765	812,906
General University educational assistance	2,507,934	2,903,946
Total program activities for the University	3,698,699	3,716,852
Management and operating:		
Salaries and benefits	367,383	299,806
Accounting services	33,304	16,480
Audit and tax services fees	22,890	24,492
Credit card fees	2,254	2,515
Insurance	2,921	5,822
Legal fees	4,335	3,475
Software	9,936	9,394
Supplies	3,839	2,208
Other	9,925	6,426
Total management and operating	456,787	370,618
Fundraising:		
Salaries and benefits	70,150	47,616
Campaigns—fundraising expenses	70,554	14,167
Constituent/donor meetings	2,982	1,436
Postage	1,726	1,049
Printing	595	4,139
Software	540	1,605
Sponsorships	12,365	19,067
Travel	7,853	4,623
Other	39,379	
Total fundraising	206,144	93,702
Total expenses	\$ 4,361,630	4,181,172

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Years Ended June 30,		2025	2024
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Cash received from contributions	\$	8,171,742	5,189,091
Cash received from interest and dividends and other support		1,774,962	1,395,502
Cash disbursed for program and faculty expenses		(2,507,934)	(2,957,900)
Cash disbursed for scholarship expenses		(1,190,765)	(812,906)
Cash disbursed for general support		(507,624)	(371,570)
Net cash provided by operating activities		5,740,381	2,442,217
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Investments sold		2,462,393	94,858
Investments purchased		(3,934,885)	(1,400,501)
Net cash used in investing activities		(1,472,492)	(1,305,643)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Cash contribution restricted to endowment		1,784,874	2,990,193
Net cash provided by financing activities		1,784,874	2,990,193
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		6,052,763	4,126,767
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		4,538,489	411,722
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$	10,591,252	4,538,489
Reconciliation of change in net assets to			
net cash provided by operating activities:			
Change in net assets	\$	14,634,925	14,122,575
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to			
net cash provided by operating activities:			
Contributions restricted to endowment		(1,784,874)	(2,990,193)
Net unrealized and realized gains on investments		(4,156,682)	(3,909,476)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Promises to give		(3,351,366)	(4,818,704)
Other assets		10,733	(781)
Artwork donated to the University		336,786	-
Accounts payable		(99,141)	38,796
Deferred revenue		150,000	<u>-</u>
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$	5,740,381	2,442,217
	-		

See Independent Auditors' Report.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2025 and 2024

(1) NATURE OF THE ENTITY

East Central University Foundation, Inc. (the "Foundation") is a nonprofit corporation formed in 1970. The purposes for which the Foundation is organized are exclusively scientific, literary, charitable, educational, and artistic for the benefit of East Central University (the "University") in Ada, Oklahoma, its faculty, its student body, and its programs. The Foundation may also serve as trustee of charitable lead trusts, charitable remainder trusts, and other private trusts of which the Foundation and/or the University are beneficiaries, notwithstanding the facts that the donors of such trusts retain a beneficial interest therein or that other charitable organizations are designated as beneficiaries of such trusts.

As gifts are received by the Foundation, they are placed into new or existing funds, as appropriate, in accordance with the stipulations of the donors. Distributions of amounts held by the Foundation are subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees (the "Board"). The purposes for which the Foundation is organized are exclusively for the benefit of the University, its faculty, its student body, and its programs. As such, the University and the Foundation are considered financially interrelated as defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

In February 2025, the University launched a capital campaign, ECU Forward, that is being managed by the Foundation. ECU Forward is a comprehensive funding initiative established to enhance the University's campus, strengthen academic programs, and allow the provision of high-quality academic services at an affordable cost. ECU Forward is seeking to raise approximately \$36,300,000 through 2030.

Program Activities for the University

<u>Scholarship awards</u>—The Foundation raises funds annually to assist select students with their costs related to their higher education pursuit. The Foundation also assists with special one-time student needs that arise and helps keep students pursuing and finishing their degree. Additional support may be granted for special one-time projects where an educational benefit will be made available for students.

<u>General University educational assistance</u>—The Foundation was organized to provide scientific, literary, charitable, educational, and artistic support for the benefit of the University, its faculty, its student body, and its programs. This is done through aiding the University faculty/staff, its educational programs, its building projects, and its assistance with institutional outreach.

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The Foundation follows the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). The ASC is the single source of authoritative guidance for accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, net assets and revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions as follows:

Net assets without donor restrictions—Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Foundation. These net assets may be used at the discretion of the Foundation's management and the Board.

Net assets with donor restrictions—Net assets subject to restrictions imposed by donors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature. Those restrictions will be met by action of the Foundation or by the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual in nature, whereby the donors have stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetuity. Generally, the donors of these assets permit the Foundation to use all or part of the income earned on any related investment for general or specific donor-imposed purposes.

Donor-restricted contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. When a restriction expires, the net assets are reclassified from net assets with donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions in the statements of activities.

Contributions

Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as revenues in the period received by the Foundation. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. Contributions of assets other than cash are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of gift. An allowance is made for uncollectable contributions based upon management's judgment and analysis of the creditworthiness of the donors, past collection experience, and other relevant factors. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, no allowance was considered necessary.

The Foundation records unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected within one year at net realizable value. Unconditional promises to give expected to be collected in future years are initially recorded at fair value using present value techniques incorporating risk-adjusted discount rates designed to reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset. In subsequent years, amortization of the discounts is included in contribution revenue in the statements of activities. The Foundation determines the allowance for uncollectable promises to give based on historical experience, an assessment of economic conditions, and a review of subsequent collections. Promises to give are written-off when deemed uncollectable.

Contributions, Continued

Contributions received are reported as either revenues without donor restrictions or revenues with donor restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in net assets without donor restrictions. Gifts of property and equipment are recorded as support without donor restrictions unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the assets must be used, in which case the gift is recorded as support with donor restrictions. Expirations of restrictions (i.e., the donor-stipulated purpose has been fulfilled and/or the stipulated time period has elapsed) are reported as net assets released from restrictions. Contributions which are received and whose restrictions are met in the same period are recognized as contributions without donor restrictions.

Income and gains on investments are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions if the terms of the gift that gave rise to the investment or applicable law require such amounts be added to endowment principal or if the terms of the gift or applicable law impose restrictions on the use of the income, and as increases in net assets without donor restrictions in all other cases.

Contributions of Nonfinancial Assets

The Foundation recognized contributed nonfinancial assets within revenue, including real estate and artwork. Unless otherwise noted, contributed nonfinancial assets did not have donor-imposed restrictions.

Real Estate Held as Investment

The contributed real estate held as investment consists primarily of real property and forms of real property interests donated to the Foundation and are carried at the lower of cost or market. The property has been recorded at its appraised value at the date the gift was given. The Foundation holds these assets until such time as they are transferred to the University or sold. No attempt is made by management to revalue real estate held as investments at subsequent dates prior to transfer or sale due to the prohibitive cost of obtaining periodic appraisals; however, the Foundation's management is of the opinion that any subsequent revaluation would not have a significant impact on the Foundation's statements of financial position or changes in net assets. Impairments are recorded to reduce the carrying value of the assets to their net realizable value based on facts and circumstances at the time of determination. No property investment impairments were recorded in 2025 or 2024.

<u>Artwork</u>

Contributed artwork was used for educational, research, scientific, or curatorial purposes, and activities verifying the existence and assessing the condition of the items are performed continuously. The artwork was recorded at appraised value at the date the gift was given. During 2025, the Foundation reappraised all artwork using an independent appraiser, which reported a fair value of \$97,550. As such, the Foundation recognized a loss of \$239,236 on the artwork in the statement of activities. All artwork was donated to the University at the fair value of \$97,550, and the donation is recognized in the statement of activities as program activities of the University. At June 30, 2024, the artwork had a total value of \$336,786.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Foundation considers all highly liquid investments available for current use with an original maturity of 3 months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Investments

The Foundation maintains the majority of its endowment assets in a pooled investment fund. Additional investments are maintained separately in accordance with the donor's instructions. Investments are reported at fair value calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 820, "Fair Value Measurement" (ASC 820). Investment securities with readily determinable market value information are adjusted to market value, with realized and unrealized appreciation and/or depreciation on investments to be recorded in the statements of activities. Fair value is determined based on quoted market prices, observable inputs, or unobservable inputs. Investments included in the pool are mutual funds and privately owned corporate stock. The Foundation's investment committee monitors the performance of all investments and instructs Foundation management as to the mix of assets to be maintained in the investment pool. Investments are made in accordance with the investment policies of the Foundation.

During the year ended June 30, 2018, a related party made a stock donation of 4,125 shares of privately owned corporate stock. The corporate stock was evaluated at \$36.00 and \$34.00 per share at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, resulting in a fair market value of \$148,500 and \$140,250, respectively. This corporate stock gift is included in investments on the statements of financial position.

Other Assets

Included in other assets was approximately \$20,000 and \$21,000 of cash surrender value assets related to insurance policies owned by the Foundation as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The face amount of the insurance policies to which the Foundation is entitled is approximately \$89,000.

Investment Return

Investment earnings are allocated to the individual sub-funds of the Foundation on a quarterly basis. These earnings are allocated based upon the individual sub-fund's percentage of participation in the investment pool. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are determined using the specific identification method; however, these transactions are included in the pool's income for allocation purposes. Investment earnings were netted with related external and direct internal investment expenses.

A portion of investment earnings is allocated to support the operations of the Foundation. The Foundation historically has allocated 25% of investment earnings to operations. The amounts allocated are recorded as interest and dividends in the net assets without donor restrictions in the accompanying statements of activities. Effective July 1, 2023, investment losses will be allocated to the Foundation's net assets without donor restriction fund based on quarter end net asset without donor restriction fund balance percentage share of the Foundation's total investment portfolio. Amounts so transferred in excess of the current operations requirements remain in the net assets without donor restrictions for future use as deemed necessary by the Foundation's management and the Board and to support the Foundation's scholarship program.

Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment are recorded at cost if purchased or at appraised value if received by donation. Furniture and equipment are being depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 10 years. The Foundation records impairments of its property and equipment when it becomes probable that the carrying value of the assets will not be fully recovered over the estimated useful life. Impairments are recorded to reduce the carrying value of the assets to their net realizable value based on facts and circumstances at the time of the determination. No furniture or equipment impairments were recorded for the year ended June 30, 2025 or 2024.

Income Tax

The income earned by the Foundation has been determined to be exempt from income taxes by the Internal Revenue Service in accordance with Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 501(c)(3). However, unrelated business income earned by the Foundation is subject to tax. Additionally, the Foundation has been determined not to be a private foundation within the meaning of IRC Section 509(a).

The Foundation evaluates and accounts for its uncertain tax positions, if any, in accordance with ASC Topic 740, "Income Taxes," including the Foundation's tax position as a tax-exempt, not-for-profit entity. Through the Foundation's evaluation of its uncertain tax positions, management has determined no uncertain tax positions existed as of June 30, 2025 or 2024, which would require the Foundation to record a liability for the uncertain tax positions in its financial statements. Interest and penalties, if any, resulting from any uncertain tax position required to be recorded by the Foundation would be presented in operating expenses in the statements of activities. With few exceptions, the Foundation is no longer subject to income tax examinations by the U.S. federal, state, or local tax authorities for years ended before June 30, 2022.

Use of Estimates in Preparing Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change include the valuation of investments and promises to give. The Foundation's various investment instruments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market volatility. Due to the level of risk associated with these financial instruments, it is reasonably possible that changes in the values of the investments and beneficial interest will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the statements of financial position. Significant fluctuations in fair values could occur from year to year, and the amounts the Foundation will ultimately realize could differ materially. Management's estimates of investments, promises to give, and the evaluation for allowance are based on consideration of all relevant available information and an analysis of the collectability of individual contributions, which arise primarily from promises to give at the financial statement date.

Net Asset Reclassifications

The Foundation reclassifies net assets from one net asset category to another as follows:

- a) Net asset reclassifications which result from fulfillment of the purposes for which the net assets were restricted and/or restrictions which expired with the passage of time.
- b) Net asset reclassifications which occur when a donor withdraws or court action removes previously imposed restrictions, when a donor imposes restrictions on otherwise net assets without donor restrictions, when a donor changes or modifies their existing restriction, and/or when an existing donor restriction requires certain amounts to be reclassified.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The statements of functional expenses present expenses by function and natural classification. Expenses directly attributable to a specific functional area of the Foundation are reported as expenses of those functional areas. Expenses that are attributable to more than one program or supporting function are allocated on the basis of time and effort; there were no such allocated expenses for the year ended June 30, 2025 or 2024.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Foundation had certain concentrations of credit risk with financial institutions in the form of uninsured cash and time deposits. For purposes of evaluating credit risk, the stability of financial institutions conducting business with the Foundation is periodically reviewed, and management believes that credit risk related to the balances is minimal.

Scholarship Awards

Scholarships are accrued when the disbursements are made to the students, which is when all of the conditions would have been met and the scholarship would have been effectively earned by the students.

Advertising Costs

All costs associated with advertising are expensed as incurred.

Date of Management's Review of Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events through September 23, 2025, the date which the financial statements were available to be issued, and determined that no subsequent events have occurred that require adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.

(3) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

A summary of the cash and cash equivalents at June 30 is as follows:

	2025	<u>2024</u>
Cash in bank	\$ 1,985,366	107,719
Federal money market fund held at Vanguard	 8,605,886	4,430,770
	\$ 10,591,252	4,538,489

Custodial Credit Risk—Deposits

The Foundation had the following depository accounts as of June 30, 2025 and 2024. All deposits are carried at cost.

	2025		2025		202	24
	Reported	Bank	Reported	Bank		
<u>Depository Account</u>	<u>Amount</u>	<u>Balance</u>	<u>Amount</u>	<u>Balance</u>		
Insured Uninsured and uncollateralized	\$ 1,985,366 8,605,886	2,052,273 8,605,886	107,719 4,430,770	162,475 4,430,770		
	\$ 10,591,252	10,658,159	4,538,489	4,593,245		

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Foundation's deposits may not be returned. The uninsured or uncollateralized federal money market fund that invest in short-term securities that are issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or U.S. government agencies, management believes any possible loss to the Foundation due to credit risk is minimal.

(4) LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY

The Foundation receives significant contributions with donor restrictions to be used in accordance with the associated purpose restrictions. It also receives gifts to establish endowments that will exist in perpetuity; the income generated from such endowments is used to fund programs. In addition, the Foundation receives support without donor restrictions; such support has historically represented less than 5% of annual program funding needs, with the remainder funded by investment income without donor restrictions and appropriated earnings from gifts with donor restrictions.

The Foundation considers investment income without donor restrictions; appropriated earnings from donor-restricted endowments; and contributions without donor restrictions and contributions with donor restrictions for use in current programs which are ongoing, major, and central to its annual operations to be available to meet cash needs for general expenditures. General expenditures include program commitments, as well as management, operating, and fundraising expenses expected to be paid in the subsequent year. Annual operations are defined as activities occurring during the Foundation's fiscal year.

(4) LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY, CONTINUED

The Foundation manages its cash available to meet general expenditures following three guiding principles:

- Operating within a prudent range of financial soundness and stability, including compliance with the Foundation's spending policy, which establishes limits on the amount of funds used for general expenditures each year.
- Maintaining adequate liquid assets.
- Maintaining sufficient reserves to provide reasonable assurance that long-term commitments and obligations under endowments with donor restrictions that support mission fulfillment will continue to be met, ensuring the sustainability of the Foundation.

The Foundation strives to maintain financial assets at a level to adequately fund 100% of the forecasted annual program commitments and management, operating, and fundraising expenses. The table below presents financial assets available for these general expenditures within 1 year at June 30:

	2025	2024
Financial assets at year-end:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 10,591,252	4,538,489
Promises to give	13,574,169	10,222,803
Investments, at fair value	 52,510,915	46,881,741
Total financial assets	 76,676,336	61,643,033
Less amounts not available to be used		
within 1 year due to:		
Restricted for passage of time	13,574,169	10,222,803
Restricted for specific purpose	13,233,074	6,590,391
Restricted in perpetuity—endowment	 33,908,687	32,968,045
Financial assets not available to		
be used within 1 year	 60,715,930	49,781,239
Financial assets available to meet		
general expenditures within 1 year	\$ 15,960,406	11,861,794

(5) PROMISES TO GIVE

Unconditional promises to give represent commitments by donors to contribute to the Foundation. Promises to give consisted of the following at June 30:

		2025	2024
Program activities for the University	\$	13,574,169	10,222,803
The scheduled amounts to be received as of June 30 were a	s follow:	5:	
		2025	2024
Amounts due in:			
Less than 1 year	\$	4,705,814	4,626,879
2 to 5 years		7,981,133	3,965,400
More than 5 years		3,250,000	3,575,000
Less discount to net present value at			
rates ranging from 2.88% to 4.88%		(2,362,778)	(1,944,476)
	\$	13,574,169	10,222,803

At June 30, 2025, three donors accounted for 78% of total promises to give. Promises to give totaling \$9,149,600 received during the year ended June 30, 2025, were restricted by donors for current year operations and were reported as contributions with donor restrictions.

At June 30, 2024, three donors accounted for 99% of total promises to give. Promises to give totaling approximately \$8,500,000 received during the year ended June 30, 2024, were restricted by donors for different projects and were reported as contributions with donor restrictions.

An allowance for possible uncollectable promises to give is not considered necessary by management as the promises to give are monitored and any deemed uncollectable are written-off as determined.

(6) <u>INVESTMENTS</u>

The Foundation primarily uses an investment manager to manage the investments, which includes purchasing and sales. As of both June 30, 2025 and 2024, the investment manager was Vanguard Institutional Advisory Services ("Vanguard").

As of both June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Foundation's target allocation and allocation range for assets were as follows:

	Target Asset	Allocation
Asset Class	<u>Allocation</u>	<u>Range</u>
Cash equivalents	1%	1%-4%
Fixed income	44%	35%–55%
Equity	55%	45%-65%
	_	
	<u>100</u> %	

The investment policy also has certain specific prohibitions, such as no more than a 25% concentration of investments in one industry, nor more than a 5% ownership of any one company or more than 5% ownership of securities of a single issuer, other than the U.S. government.

The policy requires evaluation and reallocation as needed.

Investment securities are presented at fair value. The Foundation had the following investments at June 30:

			Excess of
			Fair Value
	<u>Cost</u>	<u>Fair Value</u>	Over Cost
2025			
Noncurrent:			
Mutual funds	\$ 43,941,247	52,362,415	8,421,168
Corporate stock—private	 140,250	148,500	8,250
	\$ 44,081,497	52,510,915	8,429,418
2024			
Noncurrent:			
Mutual funds	\$ 42,557,890	46,741,491	4,183,601
Corporate stock—private	 140,250	140,250	
	\$ 42,698,140	46,881,741	4,183,601

The Foundation recognized \$3,834 and \$17,884 during 2025 and 2024, respectively, from net losses on the sale of investments. These losses have been combined with unrealized gains and losses and allocated throughout the year through the consolidated investment pool.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

(6) <u>INVESTMENTS, CONTINUED</u>

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse interest rate changes.

The following table provides information as of June 30 concerning the fair value and maturity of investments:

			More Than	More Than	More Than			
Type of	6 IV	lonths	6 Months to	1 Year to	3 Years to	More Than	Total	
<u>Investment</u>	or	Less	<u>1 Year</u>	3 Years	5 Years	5 Years	<u>Fair Value</u>	<u>Cost</u>
2025_								
Mutual funds (no maturity)	\$	_	-	-	-	_	52,362,415	43,941,247
Corporate stock—	т							
private (no maturity)							148,500	140,250
	\$						52,510,915	44,081,497
<u>2024</u> Mutual funds (no maturity) Corporate stock—	\$	-	-	-	-	-	46,741,491	42,557,890
private (no maturity)		_	-	-	_	-	140,250	140,250
private (no maturity)								
	\$						46,881,741	42,698,140

(6) <u>INVESTMENTS, CONTINUED</u>

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an insurer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The following tables provide information concerning credit risk as of June 30:

<u>2025</u>		<u>Cost</u>	Fair Value (<u>FV)</u>	FV as a % of Total FV
Not rated:				
Mutual funds Corporate stock—private	\$	43,941,247 140,250	52,362,415 148,500	99.717% <u>0.283</u> %
	\$	44,081,497	52,510,915	100.000%
2024				
Not rated:				
Mutual funds	\$	42,557,890	46,741,491	99.701%
Corporate stock—private	<u> </u>	140,250	140,250	0.299%
	\$	42,698,140	46,881,741	100.000%

Custodial Risk

For investments, custodial risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Foundation will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities in the possession of an outside party.

(7) REAL ESTATE HELD AS INVESTMENT

The Foundation owns a lot located at the corner of Arlington and Mississippi in Ada, Oklahoma, for the purpose of establishing the William Chapman Accounting Scholarship.

A summary of real estate held as investment at June 30 is as follows:

Land:		2025	2024
Lot, Arlington and Mississippi Ada, Oklahoma	\$	12,500	12,500
	<u>\$</u>	12,500	12,500

(8) FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

As of June 30, furniture and equipment consisted of the following:

	<u>2025</u>		2024	
Furniture and equipment Less accumulated depreciation	\$	33,347 (33,347)	33,347 (33,347)	
Net furniture and equipment	\$	<u> </u>	<u>-</u>	

There was no depreciation expense for 2025 or 2024.

(9) DEPOSITS HELD FOR OTHERS

The Foundation occasionally receives money on behalf of other entities and acts as a custodian of the funds. These amounts received were not considered to be significant to the Foundation's financial statements at June 30, 2025 or 2024.

(10) NET ASSET COMPOSITION

Net assets with donor restrictions were as follows for the years ended June 30:

		2025	2024
Endowments subject to the Foundation's spending policy and appropriation	\$	47,486,905	43,474,672
Specific purpose	Ţ	13,233,074	6,590,391
Passage of time: Promises to give		13,574,169	10,222,803
	\$	74,294,148	60,287,866
Net assets without donor restrictions were as follows for t	:he years e	nded June 30:	
		2025	2024
Undesignated	\$	2,268,652	1,640,009

(10) NET ASSET COMPOSITION, CONTINUED

Net assets released from net assets with donor restrictions during the years ended June 30 were as follows:

	<u>2025</u>	
Satisfaction of purpose restrictions:		
Programs for the University	\$ 2,504,245	2,813,996
Scholarships	 1,190,765	812,906
	\$ 3,695,010	3,626,902

(11) <u>RETIREMENT PLANS</u>

The Foundation has two employees who participate in the retirement plans and benefit programs of the University. The plans available include the Oklahoma Teachers' Retirement System (OTRS), which is a State of Oklahoma public employees' retirement system and a defined contribution plan, and the Supplemental Retirement Annuity, a single-employer defined benefit pension plan available to employees hired prior to July 1, 1987. During the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Foundation paid approximately \$29,000 and \$23,000, respectively, to OTRS.

The Foundation has not disclosed any amounts or items required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, and GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. As the Foundation employees are considered employees of the University, all such disclosures will be made by the University.

(12) RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The University and the Foundation have an agreement to provide the Foundation with services, including the service of the University's staff, use of office space, and office maintenance. In exchange, the University receives funds for scholarships, special projects, capital improvements, staff development, and other academic enrichment activities.

The Foundation benefits from voluntary services donated by related individuals and businesses which have not been reflected in the financial statements due to their immateriality.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

(13) <u>COMMITMENT</u>

During August 2019, the Board and donors approved a 5-year commitment of \$350,000 to assist with the University's football program. The Foundation made the fourth and final fifth payments of \$70,000 each for the years ended on June 30, 2024 and 2023. The 5-year commitment has been fully paid.

(14) ENDOWMENTS

The Foundation's endowments consisted of 448 and 439 individual donor-restricted funds as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, established for a variety of scholarships and activities. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based on donor-imposed restrictions. The endowments represent only those net assets that are under the control of the Foundation.

Interpretation of Relevant Law

The Foundation is subject to the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) and, thus, classifies as net assets with donor restrictions (a time restriction in perpetuity) the original value of endowed gifts, and any subsequent gifts to the donor-restricted endowment. Investment earnings from the donor-restricted endowment are classified as net assets with donor restrictions (a purpose restriction) until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Foundation in a manner consistent with the donor-stipulated purpose within the standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA.

Spending Policy

The Foundation has established a spending policy whereby the total amount available to be disbursed (i.e., the "Distributable Cash Income") from the Foundation's endowment fund and operating fund is determined annually.

The Distributable Cash Income is determined using the most recent 5-year average return on investments (ROI). The purpose of the spending policy is to establish an overall spending limit for the amount of money that can be disbursed from the Foundation's endowment fund and operating fund each fiscal year. The spending policy limit is determined by March 31 of each year and is used for budgeting purposes for the following fiscal year that starts on July 1.

The primary goal of the spending policy is to position the endowment fund and the unrestricted fund so that there is a balance between long-term growth and accumulation versus annual distributions.

The spending policy utilizes the most recent 5-year average ROI percentage, which allows for long-term ROI trends to be built into the spending policy. The spending policy calculation will have an annual floor and ceiling which will enable the Foundation to spend a base amount from the endowment fund in low ROI periods and have extra savings in high ROI periods.

(14) ENDOWMENTS, CONTINUED

Underwater Endowments

The Foundation considers an endowment fund to be underwater if the fair value of the fund is less than the sum of the original value of initial and subsequent gift amounts donated to the fund and any accumulations to the fund that are required to be maintained in perpetuity in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument. The Foundation complies with UPMIFA and has interpreted UPMIFA to permit spending from underwater funds in accordance with prudent measures required under law.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below the level that the donor or UPMIFA requires the Foundation to retain as a fund of perpetual duration. Deficiencies existed in 1 donor-restricted endowment fund as of both June 30, 2025 and 2024. The deficiencies resulted from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred. Deficiencies as of June 30 were as follows:

	2025		2024	
Fair values	\$	11,198	24,292	
Original donor-restricted gift amounts and amounts required to be maintained in				
perpetuity by donor		(12,500)	(25,000)	
Deficiencies	\$	(1,302)	(708)	

Endowment Net Asset Composition

The endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of June 30 was as follows:

	Donor-Restricted			
		2025	2024	
Original donor-restricted gift amounts and amounts required to be maintained in				
perpetuity by donor	\$	42,117,481	40,332,607	
Accumulated investment earnings		5,369,424	3,142,065	
	\$	47,486,905	43,474,672	
Scholarship awards	\$	33,072,368	31,349,844	
University assistance		5,369,242	4,402,076	
Athletics		6,086,997	2,017,779	
Lectureship, professorship and chair		2,958,298	5,704,973	
	\$	47,486,905	43,474,672	

(14) ENDOWMENTS, CONTINUED

Changes in Endowment Net Assets

Changes in the endowment net assets for the years ended June 30 were as follows:

	Donor-Restricted		
	 in Perpetuity		
	2025	2024	
Net assets at beginning of year	\$ 43,474,672	38,507,953	
Contributions and other revenues	1,784,874	2,990,193	
Investment earnings, net	4,111,197	3,603,246	
Amounts appropriated for expenditures	 (1,883,838)	(1,626,720)	
Net assets at end of year	\$ 47,486,905	43,474,672	

Included in endowment funds were other contributions and earnings or losses specifically related to certain endowment funds.

(15) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Foundation reports certain assets at fair value in the financial statements. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal, or most advantageous, market at the measurement date under current market conditions regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. Inputs used to determine fair value refer broadly to the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset including assumptions about risk. Inputs may be observable or unobservable. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset based on the best information available. A three-tier hierarchy categorizes the inputs as follows:

Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the Foundation can access at the measurement date.

Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, and market-corroborated inputs.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs for the asset. In these situations, the Foundation develops inputs using the best information available in the circumstances.

(15) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS, CONTINUED

In some cases, the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset might be categorized within different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In those cases, the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to entire measurement requires judgment, taking into account factors specific to the asset. The categorization of an asset within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the asset and does not necessarily correspond to the Foundation's assessment of the quality, risk, or liquidity profile of the asset.

The Foundation uses appropriate valuation methods based on the available inputs to measure the fair value of its assets.

Fair Value Measured on a Recurring Basis

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and recognized in the accompanying statements of financial position, as well as the general classification of such assets pursuant to the valuation hierarchy.

Investments

A significant portion of the Foundation's investment assets are classified within Level 1 because they comprise open-end mutual funds with readily determinable fair values based on daily redemption values. The fair value for the privately owned corporate stock is determined by an annual independent appraisal using a combination of the market values and the investment value methods, which are considered Level 3 inputs. The fair value measurements considered to be observable inputs may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information, and the security's terms and conditions, among other things.

(15) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS, CONTINUED

Fair Value Measured on a Recurring Basis, Continued

The following table presents the fair value measurements of assets recognized in the accompanying statements of financial position at fair value on a recurring basis and the level within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall at June 30:

Fair Value Measurements at

		Reporting Date Using			
		Quoted Prices			
		in Active	Significant		
		Markets for	Other	Significant	
	Assets	Identical	Observable	Unobservable	
	Measured at	Assets	Inputs	Inputs	
	Fair Value	(Level 1)	<u>(Level 2)</u>	(Level 3)	
<u>2025</u>					
Mutual funds	\$ 52,362,415	52,362,415	-	-	
Corporate stock—private	148,500			148,500	
	\$ 52,510,915	52,362,415		148,500	
2024					
Mutual funds	\$ 46,741,491	46,741,491	-	-	
Corporate stock—private	140,250			140,250	
	\$ 46,881,741	46,741,491		140,250	

The Foundation had no assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis that were transferred into or out of Level 3 for the years ended June 30, 2025 or 2024. The Foundation had no purchases or issues of Level 3 assets for the years ended June 30, 2025 or 2024.

Fair Value Measured on a Nonrecurring Basis

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and recognized in the accompanying statements of financial position, as well as the general classification of such assets pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. The valuation methodologies are consistently applied from year to year.

Real Estate Held as Investment

The fair values of real estate held as investment are based on management's estimated fair values using unobservable Level 3 inputs.

The Foundation had real estate held as investment carried at fair value on a nonrecurring basis at both June 30, 2025 and 2024. The investment had a fair market value of \$12,500 as of both June 30, 2025 and 2024.





405-878-7300

Finley-Cook.com

1421 East 45th Street Shawnee, OK 74804

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND
ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON
AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Trustees
East Central University Foundation, Inc.

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of East Central University Foundation, Inc. (a nonprofit organization) (the "Foundation"), which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2025, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 23, 2025.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Foundation's internal control over financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

(Continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND
ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON
AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS, CONTINUED

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Foundation's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Foundation's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Finley + Cook, PLIC

Shawnee, Oklahoma September 23, 2025